# FILED

10/23/2023

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0387

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Supreme Court Cause No. DA 23-0387

#### LORI LUNDEEN,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

LAKE COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Montana,

Defendant/Appellee.

### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

On Appeal from the Montana Twentieth Judicial District Court Lake County, Cause No. DV-2022-193 Honorable John W. Larson

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE**

I. Whether the District Court erred by granting Lake County's M. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss based upon the statute of limitations rather than denying it or, alternatively, sending the tolling question to the jury as required by Montana caselaw.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Lundeen's claim did not accrue until April 16, 2020. Lundeen filed her complaint & jury demand (Doc. 1) on November 1, 2022, well within the applicable three-year statute of limitations.

Regardless, this case otherwise falls within the great majority where the issue of whether a claim is barred by the statute of limitations is a question of fact for a jury. The District Court completely ignored that different conclusions may be drawn from the evidence as to whether the statute of limitations had run. The District Court's decision to dismiss Lundeen's complaint was reversible error.

The County moved to dismiss Lundeen's complaint on January 9, 2023 (Doc. 2). The County argued Lundeen's claim is barred by the statute of limitations and that her negligent misrepresentation claim is not actionable even if not time-barred (Doc. 3). The County was wrong on both points. As such, Lundeen's NIED claim should have survived M. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) scrutiny as well.

1

The Honorable Deborah Kim Christopher recused herself from jurisdiction and the other Lake County District Court Judge, the Honorable Molly Owen, declined to assume jurisdiction (Doc. 4). Missoula County District Court Judge, the Honorable John W. Larson, assumed jurisdiction on January 20, 2023 (Doc. 4) after the County filed its motion to dismiss.

Lundeen filed her opposition brief on February 6, 2023 (Doc. 8), correctly arguing her complaint was timely filed applying the accrual rule, and that material issues of fact nevertheless exist about the discovery of facts necessary to make out her claim, which makes the tolling issue one of fact for a jury. Lundeen also filed a detailed Affidavit (Doc. 9) and asked the District Court to review the County's motion under M. R. Civ. P. 56. Lundeen's Affidavit further explained the material issues of fact a jury should be tasked with resolving, inclusive of multiple exhibits. Without any explanation whatsoever, the District Court arbitrarily refused to review the County's motion under M. R. Civ. P. 56, and disregarded Lundeen's Affidavit.<sup>1</sup>

The District Court filed an opinion and order erroneously granting the County's motion to dismiss (Doc. 13) on June 13, 2023 (*see* Appendix A). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The District Court refused to convert the County's motion into a motion for summary judgment pursuant to M. R. Civ. P. 12(d), which was an abuse of discretion under the circumstances. *See, e.g., Anderson v. Recon Trust Co., N.A.*, 2017 MT 313, ¶ 7, 390 Mont. 12, 407 P.3d 692 (2017); *Johnston v. Centennial Log Homes & Furnishings, Inc.*, 2013 MT 179, ¶ 7, 370 Mont. 529, 305 P.3d 781 ("Our well-established summary judgment standard dictates that we may not weigh the evidence or choose one disputed fact over another."). The District Court's arbitrary refusal to consider the additional evidence in Lundeen's Affidavit resulted in a substantial injustice as it deprived Lundeen of due process and her day in court. The facts in Lundeen's Affidavit constitute precisely the type of evidence a jury should consider and weigh in deciding the tolling issue involved with the discovery rule and equitable tolling doctrine.

District Court largely ignored many of the well-pleaded allegations in Lundeen's complaint which must be taken as true, and determined incorrectly that Lundeen was on "inquiry notice" of her claim when the Tribes blocked off her access "no later than May 13, 2019." (Doc. 13, p. 8).

Judgment was entered in favor of the County and against Lundeen (Doc. 15) based on the District Court's opinion and order (Doc. 13) (Appendix A). The County filed a request for entry of judgment (Doc. 14). Lundeen timely appealed (Doc. 16) to this Honorable Court on July 20, 2023. *See* M. R. App. P. 4(5)(a)(i). The parties engaged in mandatory dispute resolution with attorney Alice J. Hinshaw acting as the mediator, but the mediation was unsuccessful.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Lundeen applied *pro se* to the County for entitlement to develop a 60-lot, 5phased subdivision commonly known as the Wild Horse RV Resort (the "Resort") in Big Arm, Montana (Doc. 1, ¶¶ 9-11). Lundeen devoted her entire retirement life savings to the success of the Resort, which created significant stress facing the possibility of losing everything if things did not go as planned. (*Id.*, ¶ 12).

The County granted conditional approval of Lundeen's development application on May 16, 2018. (*Id.*,  $\P$  13). There were questions about the validity of access to and from the Resort as conditionally approved by the County, so one of the conditions of approval stated: "Prior to final plat, legality of the proposed access to

the subdivision through the Big Arm Townsite will be investigated by Planning Staff and the applicant to confirm that Lake County considers the access [to the Resort] to be legal." (*Id.*, ¶ 14).

Approximately three (3) months later, on August 2, 2018, the Confederated Salish and Kootenai Tribes of the Flathead Nation ("the Tribes") sent a letter to the County raising a challenge to the County's ownership, regulatory authority, and right to use the conditionally approved accesses. (*Id.*,  $\P$  15). Lundeen relied on the County to research these complicated issues. (Id.,  $\P$  16); (Doc. 9,  $\P$  5). The County sent Lundeen a letter dated August 17, 2018, saying it was "working on the legal access question raised by CSKT." (Doc. 9, ¶ 5). The Lake County Attorney repeatedly held himself out as an expert on the access issues. He reported to Lundeen that the County spent more than 1,000 man hours researching the access issues. Based on these representations, Lundeen understood the County Attorney to be an expert in this arena who had access to special information and knowledge. Lundeen was told he had been dealing with similar issues for several years and that the Tribes' analysis was fundamentally flawed. (Doc. 9, ¶ 5); (Doc. 1, ¶ 16). Lake County knew Lundeen was not represented by counsel regarding the access issues and therefore would be relying on it to conduct research and reach the right conclusion (Doc. 1, ¶ 17). Lundeen did not believe she needed separate counsel given the County's purported expertise (Doc. 9,  $\P$  7).

The limited research Lundeen did on her own seemed to confirm the Tribes' position on access was unfounded. For example, one of the covered risks on the owner's policy of title insurance obtained by Lundeen when she bought the land insures against loss or damage sustained or incurred by Lundeen by reason of "[n]o right of access to and from the [1]and." (Doc. 9,  $\P$  8). Lundeen would not have bought the land without legal access to the Resort. (*Id.*). The policy of title insurance furthered Lundeen's belief that the County's representations about access were true and, in turn, made her reliance thereon even more objectively reasonable under the circumstances. (*Id.*).

On January 31, 2019, the County conditionally approved an amended road layout for the Resort, with condition of approval no. 3 stating: "Prior to final plat, legality of the proposed access to the subdivision through the Big Arm Townsite will continue to be investigated by County staff and the applicant to confirm that Lake County considers the access to be legal. Lake County shall be held harmless in the event that the primary and secondary access roads are found not to provide legal access to the Wild Horse RV Subdivision." (Doc. 1, ¶ 19).

However, the County had represented unequivocally to Lundeen by January 31, 2019, that the Tribes' position was baseless, that Lundeen had valid access as conditionally approved, and that she could proceed with development. (*Id.*,  $\P$  20). The County held a public meeting on January 31, 2019, at which time condition of

approval no. 3 was amended to remove the last sentence – e.g., the hold harmless clause. (*Id.*, ¶ 21). The amendment evidenced the County's extreme confidence in the truth of its representations about access. (*Id.*). It also heightened Lundeen's confidence that she received true and accurate information from the County. (Doc. 9, ¶ 9). Lundeen was stuck in the middle of a dispute and did not believe the County would lead her astray. (*Id.*). Lundeen never would have moved forward and broke ground if the County did not remove the hold harmless clause. (Doc. 1, ¶¶ 21, 24).

On February 21, 2019, Lundeen's planning consultant emailed Lake County asking it to confirm the amendment to condition no. 3. (Doc. 1,  $\P$  22). The County responded the same day, "My impression is that both the Commissioners and [the County Attorney] are confident in the County's ownership of the platted roadways in the Big Arm Townsite. Based on that I would consider that condition no. 3 is satisfied. I hope this helps clarify." (*Id.*,  $\P$  23). Thereafter, Lundeen devoted significant time and financial resources to break ground and move forward with developing the Resort. (*Id.*,  $\P$  24).

On May 13, 2019, Lundeen discovered the Tribes had gated off her access to the Resort, which temporarily prevented further construction and development work on the underlying land. (Doc. 1,  $\P$  25).

Even then, the County doubled down on its prior representations about access. (Doc. 1,  $\P$  26); (Doc. 9,  $\P$  10). The County even made statements to the media about having sufficient information from their attorney to render it resolute in its position on access. (Doc. 1,  $\P$  26). In a May 15, 2019 article in the *Missoulian*, the County said the access issues involve "a complex thicket of laws, administrative actions and court rulings dating back to the reservation's 1855 establishment." (Doc. 9,  $\P$  10, Exhibit A). The article also discussed the County's decision to remove the hold harmless clause. The County said it "had enough information from [the County Attorney] where [it was] comfortable in [its] position that [it] had jurisdiction over the roads and [it] didn't (need to) have that hold harmless agreement put into the subdivision agreements." (*Id.*).

Being untrained in the law, these and similar statements by the County after the Tribes gated off Lundeen's access continued to instill confidence in her that its representations were true and she would ultimately have nothing to worry about. (*Id.*). The County gave Lundeen no reason to question the veracity of their representations even after May 13, 2019. In fact, the County told Lundeen it was willing to litigate with the Tribes to resolve the access question. (Doc. 1, ¶ 28). In a letter dated May 17, 2019, the County again advised Lundeen that the Tribes' position was flawed and that the County was gearing up for litigation. (Doc. 9, ¶ 11, Exhibit B). The County said, "[The Tribes'] information ignores all of the items provided herein. We expect to be served with your client May 15 or 16, and this should help us be ready for the TRO arguments." (*Id.*). The County gave Lundeen no indication she needed to be concerned about her access rights even when litigation with the Tribes became imminent. (*Id.*).

On May 24, 2019, the Tribes filed a verified complaint to quiet title and for injunctive relief in federal court. The County continued to assure Lundeen its representations about access were true. (Doc. 1,  $\P$  29). The lawsuit named Lundeen as a defendant and sought to enjoin the County from asserting regulatory authority over the use of Indian trust land, including the accesses granted to Lundeen, and future trespass. (Doc. 1,  $\P$  30); (Doc. 9,  $\P$  12, Exhibit C).

The County maintained its representations were true throughout the entire course of the federal court litigation. (Doc. 1, ¶ 30); (Doc. 9, ¶ 13, Exhibits D and E). Lundeen was forced to fire sale property to fund her defense and ride the County's coattails in litigation. Her severe emotional distress continued to escalate during this time. (*Id.*). Some of the property she sold had sentimental value and family ties. (Doc. 9, ¶ 15). Lundeen continued relying on the County's research, expertise, and representations. She remained optimistic the litigation would be resolved in defendants' favor. (Doc 1, ¶ 30).

It was not until April 16, 2020, when Lundeen realized for the very first time that the County's representations about access were untrue. (Doc. 1, ¶¶ 33-36); (Doc. 9, ¶ 16). She did not understand the complex issues involved, so she deferred to the County and its attorneys up to that point in time. (*Id.*). On that date, the federal court

filed an order on the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment, quieting the Tribes' interest to the real property, including the streets, alleys, and public reserves in the Big Arm Townsite, including Lundeen's conditionally approved accesses. (Doc. 1, ¶ 32) (Doc. 9, ¶ 14, Exhibit F). This was very surprising and disappointing for Lundeen, especially considering the County's repeated representations about the validity of access between May 13, 2019 and April 16, 2020. (Doc. 9, ¶ 14). The County chose not to appeal to the Ninth Circuit. Lundeen could not afford to do so as she was already in serious financial trouble as a result of being thrown in the middle of the County's access dispute with the Tribes. (Doc. 1, ¶ 38); (Doc. 9, ¶ 15). The federal court ruling informed Lundeen for the first time that she needed to make a claim against the County. (Doc. 9, ¶ 16).

Lundeen promptly placed the County on notice of her substantive claim against it after the federal court ruling informed her of the facts constituting it (e.g., that the County's representations about access were untrue). On July 14, 2020, Lundeen sent the County a letter summarizing her claim and inquiring about its interest in resolving it without court action. (Doc. 9, ¶ 17). Lundeen asked the County to tender her claim to MACo and advised she was willing to mediate if the County so desired. (*Id.*). Lundeen presented a demand directly to MACo on May 4, 2021. (Doc. 9, ¶ 18). Ten (10) days later MACo's attorney advised there was "no indemnity protection of Lake County since the claim presented involved subdivision and road access ownership issues." (Doc. 9, ¶ 19, Exhibit G).

Out of abundance of caution, and despite her reasonable belief that her claim had accrued in connection with the federal court's ruling, Lundeen wrote the County regarding the statute of limitations issue on June 21, 2021. (Doc. 9,  $\P$  20, Exhibit H).

Lundeen's letter states in relevant part:

... the purpose of this correspondence is to provide the County with notice of Ms. Lundeen's position on the statute of limitations applicable to her claim(s) against the County...Judge Christensen filed the Summary Judgment Order on April 16, 2020. Judgment was entered the same day. However, Ms. Lundeen's position is that her claim(s) or cause of action did not accrue until the timeline ran out for an appeal to the 9<sup>th</sup> Circuit Court of Appeals, or May 15, 2020. As such, Ms. Lundeen may timely file her claim(s) or cause of action anytime on or before May 15, 2023. In our view, any claim filed prior to the timeline running out for appeal would have been subject to dismissal for lack of ripeness. This despite the fact that the Tribes had blocked Ms. Lundeen's access off with a gate long before then. Please review Ms. Lundeen's foregoing position and respond hereto in writing to advise whether the County agrees with the applicable SOL. If the County disagrees, please kindly explain why within the body of the County's response.

(emphasis in original) (Id.).

The County never stated any disagreement with Lundeen's statute of limitations analysis, instead entering into a five (5) month tolling agreement with Lundeen from July 1, 2021 to December 1, 2021. (Doc. 1,  $\P$  44); (Doc. 9,  $\P\P$  21, 26, Exhibit I). The terms of the tolling agreement evidenced the parties' ongoing efforts to resolve Lundeen's claim without the necessity of her suing the County.

The purpose and effect of this Agreement is simply to toll any applicable statute of limitations pertaining to the Claim(s) (e.g., "any and all civil claims that may be maintainable on the Effective Date by Ms. Lundeen against Lake County") from July 1, 2021 until December 1, 2021. The parties are interested in exploring potential avenues by which Ms. Lundeen may obtain reasonable access to her development, Wild Horse RV Resort Subdivision, without the case having to be filed with the District Court having jurisdiction.

#### (*Id*.).

Lundeen reasonably believed she was well within the applicable statute of limitations as of July 2021, but nevertheless signed the tolling agreement to buy herself even more time to try to find alternative access and otherwise resolve her claim against the County amicably. (Doc. 9,  $\P$  23). She believed the County's interest in a finding pre-litigation resolution was genuine, so she held off filing suit to allow negotiations to run their course. Lundeen's counsel retained an expert C.P.A. to opine on the amount of her economic loss. (Doc. 9,  $\P$  28).

Thereafter, Lundeen mitigated her damages by purchasing additional land from a neighbor to provide alternate primary access. (Doc. 1, ¶ 39). Had Lundeen not been able to consummate this purchase, she would not have been able to move forward with developing the Resort. (Doc. 9, ¶ 27). But she still needed the County to approve a variance giving her relief from the mandatory requirement to also provide secondary access. (*Id.*, Exhibit J).

The variance was approved at a public meeting on September 8, 2021, but not before the County engaged in misconduct designed to prevent Lundeen from filing her claim sooner. During a meeting with the Lake County Attorney, he overtly threatened to revoke her conditional approval and shut down her project altogether if she took legal action against the County. (Doc. 1,  $\P$  43) (Doc. 9,  $\P$  28). Lundeen was understandably afraid if she sued before the variance was approved that the County would act on its threat and stop her project dead in its tracks. (*Id.*).

After the variance was approved, Lundeen sent the County a revised settlement demand. (Doc. 9, ¶ 24); (Doc. 1, ¶ 41). Lundeen's damages were established by her expert and provided to the County. (*Id.*). The County suddenly shifted course on September 30, 2022, advising Lundeen in a letter from outside counsel that the County was no longer "interested in a prelitigation settlement conference" and flatly denied any legal liability. (Doc. 9, ¶ 25).

The facts giving rise to Lundeen's parasitic emotional distress and NIED claim are detailed in her District Court filings. (Doc. 9, ¶¶ 29-30); (Doc. 1, ¶ 60). Lundeen filed her complaint in District Court on November 1, 2022. (Doc. 1). The District Court dismissed her complaint on June 13, 2023. (Doc. 13) (Appendix A).

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Court reviews a District Court's ruling on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim pursuant to M. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) *de novo. Anderson v. ReconTrust Co., N.A.*, 2017 MT 313, ¶ 7, 390 Mont. 12, 407 P.3d 692. The Court construes a complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff when reviewing an order

dismissing a complaint under M. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). *McKinnon v. Western Sugar Coop. Corp.*, 2010 MT 24, ¶ 12, 355 Mont. 120, 225 P.3d 1221 (citing *Jones v. Mont. Univ. Sys.*, 2007 MT 82, ¶ 15, 337 Mont. 1, 155 P.3d 1247)).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Application of the accrual rule renders the filing of Lundeen's complaint timely. Regardless, the District Court should have tolled the running of the statute of limitations until April 16, 2020, by applying either the discovery rule or the equitable tolling doctrine. There are disputed material facts regarding when Lundeen knew or should have known the facts of her injury. These issues are best left to the province of a jury. Different conclusions may be drawn from the evidence. The jury should decide if a reasonable person in Lundeen's shoes would have filed suit earlier considering all the facts and circumstances. Lundeen's negligent misrepresentation claim is actionable on the merits under a long-standing exception adopted and applied in Montana. Thus, her NIED should not have been dismissed by the District Court either. The District Court's decision to dismiss Lundeen's claim was reversible error.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The District Court erred by granting Lake County's M. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss based upon the statute of limitations.

#### A. Lundeen's claim did not accrue until April 16, 2020.

Lundeen's claims are grounded in negligence. Lundeen and the County agree the applicable statute of limitations is three years. § 27-2-204, M.C.A.; *Strom v. Logan*, 2001 MT 30, ¶¶ 15-20, 304 Mont. 176, 18 P.3d 1024 (applying three-year statute at § 27-2-204, M.C.A., to a claim for negligent misrepresentation); *Estate of Woody v. Big Horn Cnty.*, 2016 MT 180, ¶ 9, 384 Mont. 185, 376 P.3d 127 ("The statute of limitations for claims of negligence,...and negligent infliction of emotional distress is three years...").

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