Case Number: DA 23-0387

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

LORI LUNDEEN,	No. DA 23-0387
Plaintiff/Appellant,	
vs.	
LAKE COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Montana,	
Defendant/Appellee.	

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Twentieth Judicial District Court Lake County District Court Cause No. DV-2022-193 The Honorable John W. Larson, Presiding

December 22, 2023

Appearances:

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

Ms. Lundeen's comparison of her case to *Ehrman v. Kaufman*, 2010 MT 284, 358 Mont. 519, 246 P.3d 1048, and to *Spolar v. Datsopoulous*, 2003 MT 54, 314

34

Mont. 364, 66 P.3d 284, fails because, unlike the plaintiffs in those cases, Ms. Lundeen alleges damages that date to before the operative Order in the underlying litigation.

The claims in *Ehrman* arose from a dispute over legal rights to the possession and use of a dock. *Ehrman*, ¶¶ 3-9, 21. The plaintiff, Ehrman, had the possession and use of the dock until August 2007, when the underlying court ruled that other persons, and not Ehrman, held the legal rights to possession and use of the dock. *Id*. Even though the allegedly-negligent legal advice was given before August 2007, because Ehrman did not lose the possession and use of the dock until August 2007, his damages, and therefore his claims, did not accrue until August 2007. *Id*.

The claims in *Spolar* arose from the valuation method the plaintiff's (Spolar's) former attorney used in preparing proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law for the division of the client's marital estate. *Ehrman*, \P 20; *Spolar*, \P 6, 9, 10, 13-16. Spolar's claims therefore accrued when the underlying court issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of law. Even if Spolar's attorney's proposed findings of fact and could not possibly have caused damages until the underlying court ruled. *Id*.

Ms. Lundeen, unlike Ehrman or Spolar, specifically alleges her damages began before the April 16, 2020, Order from the underlying federal court. As addressed above, she alleges her damages date to when CSKT gated off her access, which was May 13, 2019, and she was unable to continue her development and sell lots. She also alleges damages from the underlying federal litigation itself, in the form of attorney fees, being forced to sell property to pay for attorney fees, and emotional distress that "continued to escalate **throughout** the federal litigation." Appendix 8, ¶31 (emphasis added). *Ehrman* and *Spolar* are inapposite. Ms. Lundeen's damages accrued no later than May 13, 2019, and it is undisputed the other elements of her claims accrued on or before that date.

Nor did Ms. Lundeen have to wait for the federal action to conclude to assert her present claims. Rather, as this Court has determined is appropriate in analogous circumstances, Ms. Lundeen could have timely filed her civil Complaint against Lake County, and then she or Lake County could have sought a stay pending the outcome of the litigation between CSKT, Ms. Lundeen, and Lake County. *See Ereth v. Cascade County*, 2003 MT 328, 318 Mont. 355, 81 P.3d 463.

Ereth involved a civil claim for legal malpractice arising out of an underlying criminal prosecution. *Id.*, ¶¶ 3-10. The plaintiff, Ereth, then represented by Scott Albers, entered an *Alford* plea in the criminal case on April 12, 1996. *Id.*, ¶ 5. On July 26, 1996, Ereth, through new counsel, while attempting to withdraw her *Alford* plea, filed a pleading expressly alleging Albers pressured and unduly influenced her to enter the plea. *Id.*, ¶ 6. After several years of litigation, the criminal case was dismissed by motion filed September 21, 1999. *Id.*, ¶ 14. On August 11, 2000, Ereth
filed a Complaint against Cascade County (Mr. Albers' employer), alleging legal malpractice.

The District Court ruled that Ereth's claims accrued when she entered her *Alford* plea on April 12, 1996, that she discovered them no later than July 26, 1996, and that her claims were therefore time-barred. *Id.*, ¶ 13. This Court affirmed the District Court's conclusion (although it declined to apply its ruling retroactively and, on that limited basis, reversed the District Court's grant of summary judgment to Cascade County). *Id.*, ¶ 32. Ereth, in attempting to avoid application of the statute of limitations, made arguments substantively identical to Ms. Lundeen's:

Ereth argues that the statute of limitations did not begin to run until she obtained relief from her conviction on September 21, 1999, the day the Cascade County prosecutor filed a motion to dismiss the case. Ereth claims that she could not have filed against Albers prior to that date because the elements of her cause of action had not accrued. Ereth also maintains that if she had filed before then, her claim would have been dismissed for failure to state a claim. To that end, Ereth asserts that until the charges against her were dropped, she could not have presented a *prima facie* case that "but for" Albers' negligence she would not have been convicted. Moreover, she posits that her damages, an element of her cause of action, had not accrued until she obtained relief from the charges against her.

Id., ¶ 14. The District Court, and this Court, rejected Ereth's argument. *Id.*, ¶¶ 16-27. The fact that Ereth might have obtained (and subsequently did obtain) relief from her alleged damages in the criminal action, from a dismissal on September 21, 1999, did not alter the fact that her damages accrued on April 12, 1996. *Id.* The fact

that subsequent litigation in the criminal action might have preclusive effect in a related civil malpractice action did not toll the statute on Ereth's claim. *Id.*, ¶ 26. While "[i]ssue preclusion and collateral estoppel should be utilized in the appropriate case... the availability of these devices should not lead to a subversion of the statute of limitations..." *Id.*, ¶ 23 (quoting *Gebhardt v. O'Rourke*, (1994) 444 Mich. 535, 510 N.W.2d 900, 906-07 (Mich.). The appropriate course of action was for Ereth to timely file her claim within three years of accrual and discovery; with her claim timely filed, a stay in the civil suit pending the outcome of the related litigation could be sought. *Id.*, ¶ 26.

Ereth is dispositive of Ms. Lundeen's claims. The fact that Ms. Lundeen might have obtained relief from her alleged damages from the underlying federal court does not alter the fact that her claims accrued before the court's April 16, 2020, Order. The fact that the then-pending federal litigation might have had preclusive effect on an element of her alleged claims against Lake County did not toll the statute on those claims and Ms. Lundeen cites no authority to the contrary. Ms. Lundeen could have timely filed her Complaint against Lake County during the underlying federal litigation, and then she or Lake County, if necessary, could have sought a stay pending resolution of the federal suit. She did not do so, and her claims are time-barred.

2. The "continuing relationship" doctrine does not delay the accrual or discovery dates of Ms. Lundeen's claims, nor does it toll the statute of limitations.

The "continuing relationship" doctrine also does not delay the accrual of Ms. Lundeen's claim. The "continuing relationship" doctrine requires a professionalclient relationship. Northern Mont. Hosp. v. Knight, (1991) 248 Mont. 310, 316, 811 P.2d 1276 ("The continuing relationship doctrine may be used... during the course of an ongoing relationship between a professional and his client...") (emphasis added). There was no professional-client relationship between Lake County and Ms. Lundeen. Lake County was not Ms. Lundeen's attorney, and Ms. Lundeen was not Lake County's client⁷. Moreover, this Court has rejected the application of the "continuing relationship" doctrine in the context of legal malpractice claims. Schneider, 228 Mont. At 288. Even if Lake County had been Ms. Lundeen's attorney, which it was not, the continuing relationship doctrine would not apply. In addition, Lake County informed Ms. Lundeen of her obligation to review and assess the legality of the proposed access route. The only continuing relationship present is between Ms. Lundeen and her counsel, whose firm has represented Ms. Lundeen continuously since no later than May 17, 2019.

3. The discovery doctrine does not toll the statute of limitations for Ms. Lundeen's claims.

⁷ Ms. Lundeen cites no authority for a defendant in a negligent misrepresentation claim refusing to admit liability, or refusing to admit its alleged misrepresentation was incorrect, tolls the statute of limitations. Defendants are permitted to defend themselves without tolling the statute of limitations.

Ms. Lundeen's other arguments regarding discovery are also unavailing. She incorrectly characterizes the level of knowledge that constitutes "discovery" of a claim for purposes of the statute of limitations. As addressed above, "[the test is whether the plaintiff has information of circumstances sufficient to put a reasonable person on inquiry, or has the opportunity to obtain knowledge from sources open to his or her investigation." Osterman, 2003 MT 327, ¶27. This test was met no later than when Ms. Lundeen learned CSKT disputed Lake County's ownership of and regulatory authority over the access road at issue, if not sooner. Ms. Lundeen's assertion that she did not discover Lake County's legal position was incorrect, for purposes of the statute of limitations, until the federal court's ruling on summary judgment, is wrong. The discovery rule was triggered when Ms. Lundeen, reasonably, was on inquiry notice that Lake County's position could have been incorrect. See, Rouane, 259 Mont. At 172, (discovery rule satisfied when attorney missed statute of limitations in clients' case against airline, not when court later granted summary judgment for airline).

Stanley L. & Carolyn M. Watkins Trust v. Lacosta, 2004 MT 144, 321 Mont. 432, 92 P.3d 620 does not alter the discovery analysis; see also Estate of Watkins v. Hedman, Hileman & Lacosta, 2004 MT 143, 321 Mont. 419, 91 P.3d 1264. Watkins Trust involved an extremely complex trust and estate plan that was defective, where the attorney who represented the clients in making the plan allegedly covered up the defects by lying to her clients. *Id.*, ¶¶6-13. The trust in *Watkins Trust* was supposed to be a revocable trust and was, in fact, titled as a "Revocable Trust Agreement." *Estate of Watkins*, ¶30; *Watkins Trust*, ¶7. But, because of negligence by the drafting attorney, the trust agreement was irrevocable, instead of revocable. *Id.* However, the trust was so complex that this defect was extremely difficult to discern and, when the client, who was concerned, asked the drafting attorney about it, the attorney allegedly lied and told the client the trust was revocable. *Watkins Trust*, ¶¶6-13. This Court held, given the complexity of the documents involved and the alleged fraud by the drafting attorney against her own client, that a jury could conclude the statute of limitations had not yet run. This Court specifically observed that "a drafting attorney may not impose upon **her client** a duty to understand defects in a technical instrument in order to defeat a malpractice claim." *Id.*, ¶42 (emphasis added).

Lake County did not represent Ms. Lundeen and did not draft the complex legal authorities governing the relationship at issue between CSKT and the County upon which Lake County opined. Unlike *Watkins Trust*, no action by Lake County prevented Ms. Lundeen from being put on notice that Lake County's legal opinion may be incorrect. To the contrary, Ms. Lundeen knew no later than August 2018 that CSKT contended the County's legal opinion was incorrect. Further unlike *Watkins Trust*, no later than May 17, 2019, Ms. Lundeen was represented by her own counsel in relation to this legal dispute. The differences between this case and *Watkins Trust*

only illustrate that Ms. Lundeen was on inquiry notice, and her claim accrued, no later than May 13, 2019.

Ms. Lundeen's reliance on *Draggin' Y Cattle Co. v. Addink* is misplaced for similar reasons. 2013 MT 319, 372 Mont. 334, 312 P.3d 451. Like in Watkins Trust, Draggin' Y was a professional malpractice claim, this time against an accountant, involving a complex transaction about which the accountant allegedly made misrepresentations to his clients and withheld information from his clients. Again, Lake County did not represent Ms. Lundeen or have any kind of fiduciary relationship with her and did not draft the complex documents/authorities regarding which it opined. And unlike the plaintiffs in *Watkins Trust* and *Draggin' Y*, Ms. Lundeen (1) was aware no later than August 2018 that another party, CSKT, contended Lake County's legal position was incorrect; (2) had a condition on approval to independently investigate the legality of access herself; (3) was aware on May 13, 2019, the date her damages accrued, that CSKT blocked offer her access because it disputed Lake County's legal position; and (4) was represented by her own independent counsel no later than May 17, 2019.

4. Equitable tolling, which is only applied in rare and exceptional circumstances, does not apply to Ms. Lundeen's claims.

Finally, equitable tolling does not save Ms. Lundeen's claims from the statute of limitations. Montana law has never applied equitable tolling under circumstances

like those alleged in this case, even viewing the facts in the light most favorable to Ms. Lundeen.

Montana has applied equitable tolling to permit filing an otherwise timebarred claim where the plaintiff previously filed substantially the same claim against the same defendant in another forum, the previous filing was timely, and the second filing was made in good faith and with reasonable conduct. *See, e.g., Weidow v. Uninsured Employers' Fund*, 2010 MT 292, 359 Mont. 77, 246 P.3d 704 (timely petition to Dept. of Labor for mediation, and ambiguity of deadline to file petition with WCC after mediation, excused filing WCC petition 9 days after 60-day deadline); *Lozeau v. Geico Indem. Co.*, 2009 MT 136, 350 Mont. 320, 207 P.3d 316 (timely complaint in Tribal Court, and ambiguity as to whether Tribal Court or District Court had jurisdiction, excused filing District Court complaint six weeks after three-year statute of limitations had otherwise run).

Montana has also applied equitable tolling to permit filing an otherwise timebarred claim when "the nature of the defendant's actions has concealed from the plaintiff the existence of the claim... [and] the plaintiff is actually prevented from filing on time despite exercising 'that level of diligence which could reasonably be expected in the circumstances." *Schoof v. Nesbit*, 2014 MT 6, ¶35, 373 Mont. 226, 316 P.3d 831 (Where County Commissioners concealed existence of meeting that was basis for claim for four years, and plaintiff filed claim within 30 days of learning of meeting, equitable tolling excused filing after 30-day deadline) (quoting *Veltri v. Bldg. Serv. 32B-J Pension Fund*, 393 F.3d 318, 323, (2d Cir. 2004).

The above are the circumstances under which Montana has applied equitable tolling. *Id.; see also Miesmer v. Smith*, (2020) No. CV 20-41-H-DLC(D. Mont. Oct. 15, 2020), 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 191306, *8 (summarizing circumstances under which Montana has applied equitable tolling). None of these circumstances are present in this case.

It is undisputed Ms. Lundeen did not timely file the same claim against Lake County in another forum. Ms. Lundeen argues that Lake County was aware of her intent to file claims against it throughout the federal litigation, but this is categorically insufficient to invoke equitable tolling. There must be a prior claim timely *filed*, not mere discussion of one. *See Weidow & Lozeau, supra*. To permit putting a party on extra-judicial notice of a claim to toll the statute of limitations would substitute a mere notice requirement for the filing requirement and render the statute meaningless. It is likewise clear, as already addressed, that Ms. Lundeen's claims accrued, and she was on inquiry (and actual) notice of them no later than May 13, 2019. Despite Ms. Lundeen's arguments to the contrary, this is not a case, like *Schoof*, where the basis for the claims was concealed.

Ms. Lundeen's Affidavit (Appendix 43-52), even if it had been considered, does not change this analysis. As with her inability to prove the elements of her

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